STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

May 06 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

Honorable H. Steven DeBerry IV, Circuit Court Judge

SAM BUNCH,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001068

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

VICTOR R SEEGER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to seek to reduce
Petitioner's charges?

STATEMENT

During the August 2018 term the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for possession with intent to distribute (PWID) cocaine; possession with intent to distribute cocaine within one-half mile of a school; possession with intent to distribute cocaine base; possession with intent to distribute cocaine base within one-half mile of a school; possession with intent to distribute marijuana; possession with intent to distribute marijuana within one-half mile; resisting arrest. App. 86 – 106.

On August 29, 2018, Petitioner pled guilty before the Honorable Derham Cole. App. 1. James A. Cheek represented Petitioner. Id. Tatyana Stepanovna Ustimchuk represented the state. Id.

The state explained the sentencing recommendation for Petitioner's guilty plea was for Petitioner's possession with intent to distribute cocaine and cocaine base charges reduced from third offenses to second offenses. App. 3, ll. 17 – 22. Further the state recommended his sentences run concurrently. Id. Judge Cole accepted Petitioner's guilty plea. App. 15, ll. 8 – 9. Petitioner was sentenced to twenty years' imprisonment, suspended upon the service of ten years and probation for three years with the first ninety days being on home detention for PWID cocaine, second offense; five years' imprisonment for PWID cocaine within one-half mile of school; ten years' imprisonment for PWID cocaine base, second offense; ten years' imprisonment for PWID cocaine base within one-half of a mile of a school; five years' imprisonment for PWID marijuana; five years' imprisonment for PWID marijuana within one-half a mile of a school; and one year imprisonment for resisting arrest. App. 19, ll. 8 – 25. All of Petitioner's sentences ran concurrently. Id.

On April 16, 2019, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 22 – 31. The state filed its return on June 12, 2019. App. 32 – 38.

On August 3, 2021, Petitioner’s PCR hearing proceeded before the Honorable Seven DeBerry, IV. App. 40. Rodney Richey represented Petitioner. Id. Chelsey Marto represented the state. Id.

In an order filed on September 14, 2021, the PCR court denied Petitioner relief. App. 72 – 85. The PCR court found that plea counsel did not provide ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to seek to reduce Petitioner’s charges because Petitioner testified that he understood he pled to PWID charges because he thought he would get less time than proceeding to trial. Moreover, plea counsel testified that the evidence against Petitioner showed the state could get convictions for PWID because Petitioner had scales, cash, and different types of drugs. App. 83 – 84.

This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to seek to reduce Petitioner's charges.

Relevant Facts

On June 30, 2018, on Pine Needle Drive in Spartanburg, Petitioner was stopped by Officer Lawrence Smith. App. 13, l. 9 – 14, l. 9. Lawrence “knew [Petitioner] to have a warrant for his arrest.” Id.

Deputy Smith attempted to arrest Petitioner, but Petitioner allegedly failed to comply and attempted to flee. Id. Eventually Deputy Smith placed Petitioner in handcuffs and searched him. Id. Smith allegedly found “a green leafy substance” he believed to be marijuana “with a field weight of seven grams”. Id. Along with the green leafy substance Smith allegedly found two digital scales, a purple Crown Royal bag containing “baggies with an off-white substance” and “multiple pills – bills consisting of various denominations.” Id.

The substances found from the search were sent to Spartanburg County forensic analysis lab. Id. The alleged marijuana weighed a total of 5.95 grams; the baggies allegedly containing cocaine weighed .12 grams; and the baggie allegedly containing cocaine base weighed .30 grams. Id. The place of the arrest, 108 Pine Needle Drive, was allegedly .6 miles from 301 Crescent Road “the Early Learning Center.” Id.

At Petitioner's guilty plea hearing, plea counsel requested that Petitioner get a minimum sentence. App. 15, l. 10 – 17, l. 22. “We'd ask the Court to consider the minimum sentence. If the Court determines that it's necessary that he be under any kind of incarceration, we ask the Court to consider the possibility of a home detention sentence because he would otherwise be able to conform his behavior in the community.” App. 17, ll. 12 – 17. Plea counsel explained that the

drugs were for his personal use; however, plea counsel did not make an effort to have his charges reduced to simple possession. Had plea counsel tried to get Petitioner's charges reduced, Petitioner would have faced much less sentencing exposure. Moreover, plea counsel failed to move to dismiss the possession of cocaine, cocaine base, and marijuana with intent to distribute within one-half mile of a school, because, as the state, said *Petitioner was arrested .6 miles away from the school*. App. 14, ll. 8 – 9.

Instead, Petitioner's guilty pleas to possession of cocaine with intent to distribute, second offense; possession of cocaine base with intent to distribute, second offense; possession of marijuana with intent to distribute; possession of cocaine, cocaine base, and marijuana with intent to distribute within one-half mile of a school were allowed to proceed. The plea court accepted Petitioner's guilty plea. App. 15, ll. 8 – 9.

At Petitioner's PCR hearing he argued, inter alia, plea counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to seek to reduce his charges. App. 45, l. 7 – 47, l. 20. Petitioner told plea counsel to try to reduce his charges as Petitioner was seeking to receive a lesser sentence of imprisonment. Id. Unfortunately for Petitioner, plea counsel "didn't even try" to do anything to get the charges reduced. Id.

Evincing plea counsel's ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to attempt to reduce Petitioner's charges was the fact that plea counsel let Petitioner plead guilty to three charges that were not supported by the facts alleged by the state. Specifically, plea counsel failed to move to dismiss, with dismissal being a reduction of Petitioner charges in the strongest terms, the possession with intent to distribute cocaine, cocaine base, and marijuana within one-half mile of a school charges, where *the state's own recitation of the facts alleged* that Petitioner was arrested ".6 miles" from a school. App. 14, ll. 8 – 9; App. 87, 97, 99. Therefore, Petitioner pled guilty to

charges that he could have wholly avoided had plea counsel provided effective assistance and attempted to reduce his charges.

Plea counsel testified at the PCR hearing that it was Petitioner's decision to plead guilty. App. 64, ll. 17 – 19. Plea counsel told Petitioner that due to the facts of the case it was unlikely that a jury would believe that Petitioner was just a drug user rather than a seller. App. 59, l. 1 – 60, l. 16. While plea counsel stated that he “would love for [Petitioner] to have a lesser sentence,” he did not explain any actions he made to make that possible. App. 62, l. 9 – 63, l. 13. Furthermore, there was no mention at the guilty plea hearing of plea counsel's efforts to negotiate with the solicitor on reducing or dismissing any of Petitioner's charges.

While plea counsel wanted Petitioner to have lesser sentence it was incumbent upon plea counsel to take the steps necessary to effectuate that desire. The simplest step would have been to move to dismiss the three possession with intent to distribute within one-half mile of a school charges on the basis that *Petitioner was not arrested within one-half mile of a school*. App. 14, ll. 8 – 9.

That failure likely affected Petitioner's current sentencing because had those three charges been dismissed, the plea court may have sentenced him more leniently on the rest of his charges. Moreover, if Petitioner is charged with possession with intent to distribute within one-half mile of a school in the future, he now would face more serious sentencing exposure because of his more extensive prior record. Accordingly, plea counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel that prejudiced Petitioner when he failed to seek to reduce Petitioner's charges.

Discussion

Due to plea counsel's ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner plead guilty to charges where the facts alleged by the state did not support a conviction. Since Petitioner was arrested

outside of one-half mile of a school, plea counsel could have had the three charges for possession with intent to distribute within one-half mile of a school dismissed, had he made an effort to reduce Petitioner's charges. App. 14, ll. 8 – 9; App. 45, ll. 12 – 14. That failure to have his charges reduced constituted deficient performance.

Petitioner was prejudiced by plea counsel's deficient performance because Petitioner was likely sentenced more severely because the unchallenged charges, that could have been dismissed, were included with the rest of his charges in his guilty plea. Moreover, if Petitioner faces future charges, the unchallenged charges from this case would improperly add to his prior record such that he likely be subjected to more severe sentencing on future charges.

In order to establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a PCR applicant must prove that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms; and counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the applicant's case. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); see also Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). In reviewing the PCR court's decision, this Court is concerned only with whether any evidence of probative value exists to support the decision. See Smith v. State, 369 S.C. 135, 138, 631 S.E.2d 260, 261 (2006). If no probative evidence exists to support the PCR court's findings, this Court will reverse. See Pierce v. State, 338 S.C. 139, 144, 526 S.E.2d 222, 225 (2000).

In Teamer v. State, 416 S.C. 171, 786 S.E.2d 109 (2016) this Court held that Teamer's counsel was not ineffective for failing to move to dismiss Teamer's charges. Teamer was convicted of first-degree burglary, felony driving under the influence (DUI) resulting in great bodily injury, and failure to stop for a blue light resulting in great bodily injury and sentenced to an aggregate term of thirty years in prison. Teamer, at 173, 786 S.E.2d at 110.

At post-conviction relief, Teamer argued, inter alia, that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move for dismissal of his DUI charge. Id. The PCR court granted relief and the state appealed. Id. On appeal the state argued that the PCR court erred in determining the motion to dismiss likely would have been successful because the PCR court misinterpreted S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953, the incident site and breath test site video recording statute. Id., at 174, 786 S.E.2d at 110; See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953.

This Court held that the PCR court wrongfully determined Teamer's attorney would have been successful had he moved to dismiss the DUI charge because the "officer's failure to comply with the video-recording requirement mandated dismissal of the charge." Teamer, at 176 – 77, 786 S.E.2d at 111 – 12. The PCR court also erroneously concluded that Teamer was prejudiced because, "although subsection (B) of the statute excuses noncompliance with the recording requirement in certain situations, those exceptions require the arresting officer to submit a sworn affidavit," but no affidavit was submitted in this case. Teamer, at 177, 786 S.E.2d at 111 – 12. Thus, the PCR court found that the motion to dismiss would have been granted and trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel that prejudiced Teamer. Id.

This Court explained the PCR court committed an error of law when it determined the statute required a sworn affidavit from the officer explaining why the video equipment was not on during the DUI stop for any of the exceptions to the video requirement to apply. Id., at 177, 786 S.E.2d. 112. This Court pointed out that an exception to the video requirement that did not require a sworn affidavit involved "circumstances including, but not limited to, road blocks, traffic accidents, and citizens' arrests." Id. Since Teamer was arrested for failure to stop for a blue light in connection with a traffic accident, a sworn affidavit was not required for his charge to fall within that exception. Id. Accordingly, the PCR court erred when it held that Teamer's counsel would

have been successful had he moved to dismiss his DUI charge for failure of the officer to satisfy the video recording requirement. Teamer, at 178 – 79, 786 S.E.2d at 112 – 113.

In McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 661 S.E.2d 354 (2008), McKnight gave birth to a nearly full-term stillborn baby girl and an autopsy revealed the baby died from McKnight’s cocaine use. McKnight, at 39, 661 S.E.2d at 356 – 57. McKnight was subsequently charged with homicide by child abuse pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16–3–85 (2003). Id.

McKnight alleged her trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move to dismiss her charges “on the grounds that the disparity between the sentences for criminal abortion and homicide by child abuse violate[d] the Equal Protection Clause.” McKnight, at 52, 661 S.E. at 363. This Court denied McKnight relief because “the PCR court correctly determined [she] ha[d] no equal protection claim” because she was not similarly situated to defendants charged under the criminal abortion statute. Id.

This Court explained that the sentencing differences between the homicide by child abuse statute and the criminal abortion statute reflected a valid legislative determination for the need to target a specific societal problem. Id., at 54, 661 S.E.2d at 54. Accordingly, the Court held the PCR court correctly determined that McKnight’s counsel was not ineffective in failing to argue that the homicide by child abuse statute violated the Equal Protection Clause. Id., at 54, 661 S.E.2d at 364 – 65.

The failure to reduce or dismiss Petitioner’s charges in this case is starkly contrasted against the alleged failure to move to dismiss in Teamer or McKnight. In Teamer and McKnight, the motions to dismiss would not have been successful. In both Teamer and McKnight, the purported failure to move to dismiss was not ineffective assistance because the facts supported the charges they were facing.

However, here the facts put forth by the state simply did not fit the elements of possession with intent to distribute within one-half mile of a school. During the plea colloquy, the state admitted Petitioner was arrested .6 miles from the “Early Education Center.” App. 14, ll. 8 – 9. Thus, Petitioner’s charges for possession with intent to distribute within one-half a mile of a school were not supported. Accordingly, unlike in Teamer and McKnight, had plea counsel made a motion to dismiss he would have been successful in reducing Petitioner’s charges such that his failure to make the motion to dismiss constituted ineffective assistance of counsel that prejudiced Petitioner.

Other jurisdictions have encountered the issue of whether a plea counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to reduce by moving to dismiss a defendant’s charges as well. Regarding the failure to move to dismiss charges, in United States v. Palomba, 31 F.3d 1456 (9th Cir. 1994) the Ninth Circuit held Palomba’s counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel when he failed to move to dismiss two charges of mail fraud. Palomba, at 1463 – 64.

On April 10, 1990, Palomba was charged with making false statements to a federal agency, mail fraud, and conspiracy. Palomba, at 1459. Palomba, through a corporation, submitted affidavits containing false statements of financial worth to federal agencies in order to obtain approval to act as a surety on government construction contracts. Id. The mail fraud charges were not brought in the original indictment but were added three months later in a superseding indictment. Palomba, at 1462 – 63. On appeal, Palomba contended that because the mail fraud counts were indicted after the deadline set forth in the Speedy Trial Act his trial counsel should have moved to dismiss them. Palomba, at 1463; See 18 U.S.C. § 3162.

Regarding deficient performance, the Ninth Circuit determined that trial counsel’s performance was deficient pursuant to Strickland because “no apparent or plausible tactical

decision could explain counsel's failure to move for dismissal.” Id., at 1466. However, the government in Palomba argued that even if trial counsel was successful in dismissing Palomba’s mail fraud charges, his sentence would not have been reduced and, therefore, Palomba was not prejudiced. Id., at 1464 – 65.

The Ninth Circuit recognized that Palomba’s sentence may not have been reduced in the absence of the mail fraud charges but refused to agree that their dismissal would not have been a benefit to him. Id. Prejudice from the ineffective assistance of counsel was established because “[a]n erroneous conviction may be prejudicial even if the error did not immediately lead to additional jail time” where there was the possibility for the unchallenged conviction to affect the defendant’s sentencing on potential future convictions. Id., at 1465.

The Iowa Supreme Court has ruled on this issue in State v. Allen, 708 N.W.2d 361 (Iowa 2006). The Iowa Supreme Court held that Allen’s counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel when he failed to challenge Allen’s guilty plea for lacking a factual basis. Allen, at 363 – 64.

Allen appealed her conviction for introducing a controlled substance into a detention facility. Id., at 364. Allen argued that her trial counsel was ineffective in permitting her to plead guilty to the charge of introducing a controlled substance into a detention facility because under the Iowa statute the building she brought the controlled substance into was not a “detention facility.” Allen, at 364; See Iowa Code Ann. § 719.8.

The Iowa Supreme Court held defense counsel “fails to perform an essential duty when counsel allows the defendant to plead guilty to a charge for which there is no factual basis and thereafter does not file a motion in arrest of judgment challenging the plea.” Allen, at 365. The

Iowa Supreme Court agreed with Allen’s interpretation of the statute that the facility in question was not a “detention facility.” Allen, at 366 – 368.

Regarding the question of prejudice, the Iowa Supreme Court’s was emphatic, the failure to attack a plea that lacked a factual basis “*results in prejudice per se.*” Id. at 368 (emphasis added). “To hold otherwise, ‘would erode the integrity of all pleas and the public confidence in our criminal justice system.’” Id.; quoting State v. Hack, 545 N.W.2d 262, 263 (Iowa 1996); See State v. Myers, 653 N.W.2d 574, 579 (Iowa 2002) (“Establishing ineffective assistance of counsel on the basis a guilty plea lacks a factual basis does not require a separate showing of prejudice”). Accordingly, the Iowa Supreme Court vacated Allen’s charge for introducing a controlled substance into a detention facility and remanded the case to the district court. Allen, at 369.

This case is closer to Allen and Palomba than it is to Teamer and McKnight. Both Petitioner’s unchallenged charges for possession with intent to distribute within one-half a mile of a school in this case and Allen’s charge for introducing a controlled substance into a detention facility were not supported by the underlying facts. App. 14, ll. 8 – 9; Allen, at 366 – 68. Moreover, similarly to Palomba, “no apparent or plausible tactical decision could explain counsel’s failure to move for dismissal” in this case. See Palomba, at 1466. Accordingly, plea counsel in this case provided deficient performance when he failed to try to reduce Petitioner’s charges by moving to dismiss Petitioner’s possession with intent to distribute within one-half a mile of a school charges because the motion to dismiss would have been successful.

While in Allen, the Iowa Supreme Court held that prejudice was presumed because “[t]o hold otherwise, ‘would erode the integrity of all pleas and the public confidence in our criminal justice system,’” Petitioner can show he suffered actual prejudice as well. Allen, at 368. First, there was a reasonable likelihood that Petitioner’s current sentencing was negatively affected by the

inclusion of the possession with intent to distribute within one-half a mile of a school charges such that he was prejudiced by plea counsel's failure to move to dismiss them.

Additionally, prejudice results from the failure to move to dismiss erroneous charges where there was the possibility for the unchallenged convictions to affect the defendant's sentencing on potential future convictions. See Palomba, at 1465; see also State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 174, 478 S.E.2d 260, 270 (1996) (holding that a defendant's prior record is a relevant consideration for sentencing purposes). Accordingly, Petitioner was also prejudiced in this regard because the unchallenged charges in this case would certainly create the possibility to negatively affect Petitioner's sentencing on potential future charges. See Strickland, supra.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court grant certiorari to allow for further briefing on this issue.



Victor R Seeger
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER