RECEIVED

Sep 13 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Spartanburg County
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. Derham Cole, Trial Judge
The Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001068

SAM BUNCH.....Petitioner.

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA.....Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHELSEY F. MARTO
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 104191

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

On appeal, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying him relief because Counsel was ineffective for failure to get Petitioner's one-half mile proximity charges dismissed. This specific issue was not raised in the circuit court and is not properly preserved on appeal. However, even if this Court finds that this issue is preserved, Respondent contends that Counsel was not deficient because there were no grounds for an outright dismissal of the charges, Petitioner was entitled to plead to charges he did not commit to enjoy the benefit of a favorable plea offer, and no showing this alleged deficiency impacted Petitioner's decision to plead or the sentence itself. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. Consequently, this Court should deny certiorari.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner alleged Counsel was ineffective for failing to reduce his possession with intent to distribute charges to simple possession charges. (App. 46-49). Now for the first time on appeal, Petitioner alleges Counsel was ineffective for failing to move to dismiss the one-half mile of a school or park charges dismissed outright. Because the claim now raised was never raised in the post-conviction relief court, it is not preserved for this Court's review. *Plyler v. State*, 309 S.C. 408, 409, 424 S.E.2d 477, 478 (1992) ("On certiorari to this Court, Plyler raises the issue of whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to an erroneous malice charge. Since this issue was neither raised at the PCR hearing nor ruled upon by the PCR court, it is procedurally barred."); *Hyman v. State*, 278 S.C. 501, 502, 299 S.E.2d 330, 331 (1983) ("The appellant asserts representation was ineffective because her trial counsel did not object that the sentences constituted cruel and unusual punishment. This point was not raised in her application or at the hearing and is not properly before us.").

Here, Petitioner never raised or otherwise presented the claim that Counsel was

ineffective for failing to dismiss the one-half mile of a school or park charges. This issue was not before or addressed by the circuit court and, accordingly, this issue is not properly before the Court and is hardly an extraordinary case where preservation deficiencies should be overlooked in the interest of justice.

Further, Counsel was not ineffective on this ground. When a petitioner asserts ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, they must show “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. Ineffective assistance of counsel is governed by the Sixth Amendment, as explained by the United States Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington*.

Pursuant to the first prong of the *Strickland* analysis, the petitioner must prove defense counsel’s performance was deficient. *Id.* at 686; *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). To show deficiency, the petitioner must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel’s actions fell outside of the zone of “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. *See also* Rule 71.1(e), SCRC (“The applicant has the burden of establishing his entitlement to relief by a preponderance of the evidence.”). Judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance remains highly deferential towards defense counsel with a strong presumption that counsel acted competently, because competent representation may be executed in virtually “countless” ways. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688-89.

Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the petitioner so that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694.

The court makes this determination based upon the totality of the evidence. *Id.* at 695.

Importantly, “[t]he likelihood of a different result must be *substantial*, not just conceivable.”

Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 112 (2011).

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 696. A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant because of the alleged deficiencies; if it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. *Id.* at 696-97.

In the context of a guilty plea, the petitioner must show there is a reasonable probability that, but for ineffective assistance of counsel, he or she would not have pled guilty but, instead, would have insisted on going to trial. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985). *See also Blackledge v. Allison*, 431 U.S. 63, 73-74 (1977) (“Solemn declarations in open court carry a strong presumption of verity. The subsequent presentation of conclusory allegations unsupported by specifics is subject to summary dismissal, as are contentions that in the face of the record are wholly incredible.”). “A defendant who pleads guilty on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of the plea by showing 1) that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and 2) that there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel’s errors, the defendant would not have pleaded guilty but would have insisted on going to trial.” *Wolfe v. State*, 326 S.C.158, 485 S.E.2d 367 (1997); *accord Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52 (1985); *Roscoe v. State*, 345 S.C. 16, 546 S.E.2d 417 (2001). Absent valid reasons why the petitioner is entitled to depart from previous judicial admissions made at the plea hearing, statements made during the original proceeding remain conclusive. *Dalton v.*

State, 376 S.C. 130, 137-38, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Crawford v. United States*, 519 F.2d 347, 350 (4th Cir. 1975)).

To show prejudice, the petitioner is required to show that the deficiency would have affected counsel's advice to accept the plea bargain or cause petitioner to decline accepting the bargain. *See Stalk v. State*, 383 S.C. 559, 681 S.E.2d 592 (2009) (quoting *Hill, supra* and discussing the prejudice prong). This requires more than the bare assertion that "but for" the deficiency, petitioner would not have pled guilty, but gone to trial instead. *Id.* at 563, 681 S.E.2d at 594-595.

The Fourth Circuit has recognized that determining prejudice is an objective inquiry depending "on the likely outcome of a trial had the defendant not pleaded guilty." *Meyer v. Banker*, 506 F.3d 358, 369 (4th Cir. 2007); *see Hooper v. Garraghty*, 845 F.2d 471, 475 (4th Cir. 1988) (noting despite focus on a subjective inquiry in *Lockhart's* prejudice standard, the answer to the prejudice inquiry "must be reached through an objective analysis.").

To show prejudice in the context of a guilty plea, a PCR applicant must show that he would not have pled guilty but for counsel's errors and "must convince the court that such a decision would have been rational under the circumstances." *United States v. Fugit*, 703 F.3d 248, 260 (4th Cir. 2012) (internal quotation marks omitted) *cert denied*, 134 S.Ct. 999 (2014) citing *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 372 (2009). "The challenger's subjective preferences, therefore, are not dispositive; what matters is whether proceeding to trial would have been objectively reasonable in light of all of the facts." *Fugit*, at 260.

Petitioner's plea was entered freely, voluntarily, intelligently, and knowingly. Petitioner stated he understood the charges and indictments and that he was informed of the charges and possible sentencing ranges involved in each charge. (Tr. 4). He advised he told Counsel all

relevant facts associated with the charges and that he and Counsel talked about the fact that he did not have a plausible defense. (Tr. 4). Petitioner waived presentment of the charges before the grand jury. (Tr. 5). He also confirmed he knew he was waiving his rights, including the right to remain silent, to call and confront witnesses, and to proceed to a jury trial. (Tr. 5-7). He advised no one threatened, promised, or coerced him into pleading, that it was being freely and voluntarily entered, that he wanted to plead guilty because he was guilty of all charges pled to, and that he understood the sentencing ranges and fines. (Tr. 7-9). Petitioner stated he understood the serious offense distinction associated with his main charge. (Tr. 7-9). After this, Petitioner advised he still wanted to plead guilty. (Tr. 9). Petitioner denied he has not used drugs the fifty days he has been in jail leading up to the plea hearing, that his addiction nor his paranoid schizophrenia did not impact his ability to understand the plea, that his mental health is not as severe as it used to be, and the last time he took medication under a doctor's care in 1996. (Tr. 11-13). Thus, the plea transcript indicates that Petitioner knowingly, intelligently, freely, and voluntarily entered his plea to the charges as stated by the State.

Concerning Petitioner's allegation that Petitioner was arrested over a half-mile of a school or park, beyond pointing to a line in the plea transcript showing that the difference between the two points was clocked at .6 miles, Petitioner has failed to show that the difference between the two lines exceeded .5 miles when drawn in a straight line. *Brown v. State*, 333 S.C. 238, 241, 510 S.E.2d 212, 213 (1998) (holding that "the only way to uniformly measure the distance between a school, church or other protected location where illegal drugs were sold is to do so in a straight line"). Petitioner has failed to establish the distance exceeded what is dictated by statute and Respondent contends that when measured by radius, Petitioner was within one-half mile of a school or park at the time of the incident, and a dismissal of these charges would

be inappropriate. *Id.* at 241, 510 S.E.2d at 214 (finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof when failing to show that the distance exceeded one-half mile when measured in a straight line).

Even if the incident location was over a half-mile away from a school or park, it remains settled law that defendants can plead guilty to a charge they are not guilty of to capitalize on a favorable plea offer. *See Rollinson v. State*, 346 S.C. 506, 552 S.E.2d 290 (2001) (where the defendant plead guilty to second offense drug charge at the same time as first offense charge as part of a plea negotiations to drop three other charges); *Anderson v. State*, 342 S.C. 54, 535 S.E.2d 649 (2000) (finding a defendant indicted for murder may accept plea bargain and plead guilty to voluntary manslaughter even though the facts do not support a lesser charge). Counsel is not deficient for declining to challenge proper charges supported by the evidence when Petitioner entered a valid plea to the charges to capitalize on a favorable plea offer.

Petitioner failed to establish any prejudice. Petitioner agreed with the prosecutor's assertion that the locations were .6 miles apart and still decided to proceed forward with his plea and should not be permitted to withdraw it now. Petitioner received a favorable offer to lesser-included offenses where he received fifteen years' less active time than the mandatory minimum at trial would have allowed. Petitioner has made no showing that he wants his plea vacated and would have preferred to proceed to trial. Instead, Petitioner seems to be requesting this Court grant him a sentence reduction, which is not a proper form of relief in PCR Court. *See Smith v. State*, 413 S.C. 194, 195, 775 S.E.2d 696, 696 (2015) ("We now clarify the proper remedy is a new trial."); *Gilstrap v. State*, 252 S.C. 625, 168 S.E.2d 88 (1969) (finding that, if entitled to relief, petitioner would not be afforded absolute relief, but a new trial); *Grant v. MacDougall*, 244 S.C. 387, 391, 137 S.E.2d 270, 272 (1964) (relief of absolute release not available). Finally,

because the charges in dispute on appeal are proper and could not have been dismissed on that basis, there was no grounds for dismissal and can be no prejudice as a result. Accordingly, relief should be denied on this ground.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this court should deny certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's findings that Petitioner had effective assistance of counsel. However, if this Court decides to grant the petition of writ of certiorari, Respondent respectfully requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.